IN THE NEVADA SUPREME COUR Electronically Filed May 18 2022 07:34 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

State of Nevada,

Respondent.

Direct Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Jerry A. Wiese, District Court Judge District Court Case No. C-20-348507-1

Appellant's Opening Brief

JoNell Thomas, NSB 004771 Special Public Defender *Julian Gregory, NSB 011978 Deputy Special Public Defender Quintin Dollente, NSB 009379 Chief Deputy Special Public Defender 330 S. 3rd St., Suite 800 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-6265 (702) 455-6265 (702) 455-6273 (fax) Julian.Gregory@ClarkCountyNV.gov *Counsel for Jermiah Thornburg

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction following a guilty plea to one count of attempt sexual assault with a minor under fourteen years of age. 1 App. 59–60. The judgment of conviction was filed on November 1, 2021. *Id.* at 59. A timely notice of appeal was filed on November 24, 2021. *Id.* at 69. An Amended Judgment of Conviction and Amended Notice of Appeal were filed December 27, 2021. *Id.* at 72–75. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it is an appeal based on a plea of guilty. *See* NRAP 17(b)(1).

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The district court erred when it imposed extradition costs and attorney's fees at sentencing in disregard of Thornburg's debts and ability to pay.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 26, 2020, the State of Nevada charged Jermiah Thornburg by way of Information with one count of attempt sexual assault with a minor under fourteen years of age. 1 App. 1–2. The State later amended

1

its Information to include lewdness with a child under the age of fourteen, sexual assault with a minor under fourteen years of age, open or gross lewdness in the presence of a child or vulnerable person, and lewdness with a child under the age of sixteen. *Id.* at 3–5. On August 10, 2021, Thornburg entered into a guilty plea to a single charge of attempt sexual assault with a minor under fourteen years of age. *Id.* at 17–27. The parties stipulated to an 8-to-20 year sentence, dismissal of justice court case number 18F02416X, concurrent time with Thornburg's federal case, and credit for time served beginning April 15, 2020. *Id.* Thornburg was sentenced as stipulated on October 21, 2021. *Id.* at 35–37.

Subsequently, Thornburg filed a Motion to Clarify and/or Amend Judgment of Conviction reflecting that Thornburg would serve his time concurrent to his federal case. *Id.* at 45–46. The district court granted that motion and an Amended Judgment of Conviction issued on December 27, 2021. *Id.* at 68, 72–73. Thornburg filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 24, 2021, and then an Amended Notice of Appeal on December 27, 2021. *Id.* at 69–70, 74–75.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Thornburg was in federal custody in Atlanta, Georgia on an unrelated matter at the inception of this case, and he was extradited to Las Vegas, Nevada to answer for these charges. PSI 5. The PSI reported that extradition costs were owing in the amount of \$5184.00. *Id.* at 7–8. At sentencing, Thornburg objected to the imposition of extradition costs, arguing that Thornburg is indigent and in child support arrears of tento-fifteen thousand dollars. 1 App. 37–38; PSI 3. Despite this information, the district court imposed the stipulated 8-to-20 year sentence along with \$5184.00 in extradition fees and costs and an indigent defense civil assessment of \$250.00 for attorney's fees. 1 App. 40–43.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred when it assessed extradition costs and attorney's fees without regard for Thornburg's outstanding debts and ability to pay. Thornburg owes a significant amount of back child support, and the imposition of extradition costs and an indigent defense civil assessment constitute an undue financial burden, rendering the district court's order an abuse of discretion.

3

VII. ARGUMENT

A. This Court reviews sentencing determinations for an abuse of discretion.

A "sentencing judge has wide discretion in imposing a sentence, and that determination will not be overruled absent a showing of abuse of discretion." *Houk v. State*, 103 Nev. 659, 664, 747 P.2d 1376, 1379 (1987); *see also Chavez v. State*, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 490 (2009). The district court also has the discretion to order a defendant to pay expenses incurred by the county in providing indigent defense services. *Taylor v. State*, 111 Nev. 1253, 1258–59, 903 P.2d 805, 809 (1995), *overruled on other grounds by Gama v. State*, 112 Nev. 833, 836, 920 P.2d 1010, 1012–13 (1996).

B. The district court abused its discretion in assessing extradition costs of \$5184.00.

At sentencing, Thornburg objected to the imposition of extradition costs based on an inability to pay. 1 App. 37–38. Despite the objection, the district court ordered \$5184.00 in extradition costs. *Id.* at 40–41. The court noted that it was "only fair that the State gets paid back that." *Id.* at 40. Nevada Revised Statute 179.225(2) provides that a district court shall conduct an investigation of the financial status of the defendant to determine their ability to make restitution payments. Part of that investigation depends on whether the defendant has unpaid child support. NRS 179.225(2)(a). "The court shall not order the person to make restitution if payment of restitution will prevent the person from paying any existing obligations described in subsection 2." NRS 179.225(3). In this context, restitution includes the costs of extradition. NRS 179.225(2).

The district court should have recognized Thornburg's inability to pay restitution. The court itself noted that Thornburg's custody status likely precluded him from making payments on his child support.¹ That the district court then assessed the fee constituted an abuse of discretion in light of Thornburg's indigent status and outstanding child support obligations. For those reasons, Thornburg's sentence should be vacated and he should be re-sentenced without the imposition of extradition costs.

 $^{^1}$ "Well, I guess the fact that he's 15 to 20 thousand dollars in arrears on child support indicates that he wasn't paying that anyway" 1 App. 39.

C. The district court abused its discretion in ordering an indigent defense civil assessment of \$250.00.

Pursuant to NRS 171.188, an indigent defendant may request the appointment of an attorney to represent him. It is the public defender's office who is charged with the representation of indigent criminal defendants, which representation must be "without charge." NRS 260.030; NRS 260.050; see also Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344 (1963) (recognizing that "in our adversary system of criminal justice, any person haled into court, who is too poor to hire a lawyer, cannot be assured a fair trial unless counsel is provided for him"). The district court must appoint the public defender to represent indigent criminal defendants unless they are disqualified. NRS 7.115. When the public defender is disqualified, the court is permitted to appoint another attorney to represent the defendant as long as such appointment complies with the county plan for the provision of indigent defense services. Id.

An initial determination that a defendant is indigent, however, is not "set in stone" and a defendant may be ordered to pay part or all of the attorney fees, if he becomes able, during the pendency of the action. As

indicated in NRS 7.165:

If at any time after the appointment of an attorney or attorneys the magistrate or the district court finds that money is available for payment from or on behalf of the defendant so that the defendant is financially able to obtain private counsel or to make partial payment for such representation, the magistrate or the district court may:

Direct that such money be paid to:

. . . .

. . . .

The clerk of the district court for deposit in the county treasury, if all of the compensation and expenses in connection with the representation of such defendant were paid from the county treasury, and remittance to the office of the state public defender, if such compensation and expenses were paid partly from moneys appropriated to the office of the state public defender and the money received exceeds the amount of compensation and expenses paid from the county treasury.

The district court has the responsibility to continually assess a defendant's ability to pay for his attorney. While the district court has the discretion to order a defendant to pay all or part of the attorney's fees,

the district court may do so only after assessing a defendant's ability to

pay. Specifically, NRS 178.3975 states, in pertinent part, that:

The court may order a defendant to pay all or any part of the expenses incurred by the county, city or state in providing the defendant with an attorney which are not recovered pursuant to NRS 178.398. The order may be made at the time of or after the appointment of an attorney and may direct the defendant to pay the expenses in installments.

The court shall not order a defendant to make such payment unless the defendant is or will be able to do so. In determining the amount and method of payment, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment will impose.

While NRS 178.395 gives the district court the discretion to require

the partial repayment of funds expended by the county for attorney's fees,

the statute mandates that the defendant's financial resources be

assessed first. As this Court indicated in *Taylor v State*:

"[O]nly those who actually become capable of repaying the State will ever be obliged to do so. Those who remain indigent or for whom repayment would work 'manifest hardship' are forever exempt from any obligation to pay." 111 Nev. 1253, 1259, 903 P.2d 805, 809 (1995) overruled on other grounds
by Gama v. State, 112 Nev. 833, 836, 920 P.2d 1010, 1012–13 (1996)
(quoting Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40, 52–53 (1974)) (cleaned up).

Here, the district court was required to take into account Thornburg's financial resources and ability to pay before assessing him a fee of \$250.00 for attorney's fees. This, the district court failed to do. The district court, therefore, abused its discretion in assessing such fees.

Thornburg was found indigent, and counsel was appointed for him. His PSI revealed that he had fifteen to twenty thousand dollars in child support obligations. PSI 3. Furthermore, Thornburg was in federal custody prior to his time in state court. PSI 7. During his lengthy incarceration, Thornburg had no opportunity to earn money, nor did he have any ability to pay for an attorney.

Given these facts, the district court abused its discretion in assessing attorney's fees to Thornburg as part of his sentence. As a result, Thornburg's sentence should be reversed, and this case remanded for resentencing.

VIII. CONCLUSION

Thornburg respectfully submits that the district court abused its discretion when it ordered him to pay extradition costs and an indigent defense civil assessment. For that reason, he would ask this Court to vacate his sentence and remand this matter for re-sentencing.