IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JERMIAH DEWIGHT THORNBURG,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 15 2022 11:39 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 83864

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction from a Guilty Plea Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Thornburg waived his right to an appeal.
- 2. The district court did not abuse its discretion in assessing extradition costs of \$5,184.00.
- 3. The district court did not abuse its discretion in ordering an indigent defense civil assessment of \$250.00.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 26, 2020, the State charged Appellant Jermiah Dewight Thornburg by way of Information with one count of Attempt Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Category B Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366, 193.330 - NOC 50123). 1 AA 1. On June 22, 2020, an Amended Information was filed charging Thornburg with three counts of Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14 (Category A Felony - NRS 201.230 - NOC 50975); two counts of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Category A Felony - NRS 200.364, 200.366 - NOC 50105); Open or Gross Lewdness in the Presence of a Child or Vulnerable Person (Category D Felony - NRS 201.210 - NOC 58745); and Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 16 (Category B Felony - NRS 201.230 - NOC 58747). 1 AA 3. On August 24, 2020, a Second Amended Information was filed with the same aforementioned charges. 1 AA 7.

On November 23, 2020, the State filed a Third Amended Information charging Thornburg with Lewdness With a Child Under the Age of Fourteen (Category A Felony - NRS 201.230 - NOC 50975). 1 AA 11. On August 3, 2021, the State filed a Fourth Amended Information Charging Thornburg with Attempt Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age (Category B Felony – NRS 200.364, 200.366, 193.330 - NOC 50123). 1 AA 13. On August 3, 2021, the

State filed a Fifth Amended Information containing the same charge but including the dates of the conduct. 1 AA 15.

On August 10, 2021, Thornburg plead guilty to a single charge of Attempt Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age. 1 AA 27. The parties stipulated to an eight-to-twenty-year sentence in the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC"). 1 AA 17. Further, the State would dismiss Case No. 18F02416X and would not oppose concurrent sentencing with Thornburg's federal case. In addition, the parties stipulated that Thornburg's credit for time served would be calculated from April 15, 2020. 1 AA 17–18.

On October 21, 2021, Thornburg was sentenced to a maximum of twenty years and a minimum of eight years in the NDOC with five hundred sixty days credit for time served. 1 AA 40. Thornburg was ordered to pay the standard \$25.00 Administrative Assessment Fee, \$3.00 DNA Collection Fee, and \$250.00 Indigent Defense Fee, as well as a \$5,184.00 Extradition Fee. 1 AA 40–41.

The Judgment of Conviction was filed on November 1, 2021. 1 AA 42.

On November 15, 2021, Thornburg filed a Motion to Clarify and/or Amend Judgment of Conviction requesting that the district court amend his Judgment of Conviction to reflect that the instant case was to run concurrent with his federal case. 1 AA 45. On November 23, 2021, the Motion was granted. 1 AA 68.

On November 24, 2021, Thornburg filed a Notice of Appeal. 1 AA 69. An Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 27, 2021. 1 AA 72. On December 27, 2021, Thornburg filed an Amended Notice of Appeal. 1 AA 74. The State's response follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Thornburg's Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI") summarized the underlying facts of the crime as follows:

On July 12, 2017, Child Protective Services received a call of a sexual assault by a mandated report, details of the call stated the victim was 16 years old and she had been sexually abused by the defendant, Jeremiah Dewight Thornburg from the time she was 12 to 14 years old. Detectives contacted the victim, and an interview was completed at the Southern Nevada Children's Assessment Center on January 18, 2018.

The victim stated Mr. Thornburg is her brother, a registered sex offender; he "performed sexual acts on me." The first incident the victim described occurred when she was 12 years old. She was visiting her father; however, her father and her stepmother left her alone with Mr. Thornburg. Mr. Thornburg made a comment about her behind (buttocks) and then asked her to choke him, so she did. They were in Mr. Thornburg's bedroom and he was sitting down, while the victim stood in front of him. As she choked him Mr. Thornburg began touching her private area (vagina) using his hand over her clothing. The victim described the touching as "gliding" and stated it made her feel uncomfortable, weird, and disgusting. The victim did not tell anyone and kept her distance from Mr. Thornburg until her father and stepmother came home.

The second incident the victim described occurred when she was 12 or 13 years old. She stayed the night with Mr. Thornburg at his girlfriend's home. All three of them slept in the master bedroom and Mr. Thornburg's girlfriend slept between the victim and Mr. Thornburg. The victim woke up to Mr. Thornburg touching her and Mr. Thornburg's girlfriend was no longer there. Thornburg was touching the victim's vagina with his fingers over her clothing. Mr. Thornburg asked the victim if she wanted to play a game and she responded, "sure." Mr. Thornburg grabbed the victim's legs, wrapped them around himself and began to grind his "genital area" against the victim's vagina. The victim was laying on the bed and Mr. Thornburg was on top of her. The victim told Mr. Thornburg this made her uncomfortable and to get off her, so he did.

The summer of 2014, the victim was 13 years old she described a third incident which occurred at Mr. Thornburg's home. The victim spent the night at Mr. Thornburg's to visit with his children who were closer to her age. Early in the morning Mr. Thornburg engaged in a conversation with the victim while his wife showered, and the other children slept. Mr. Thornburg asked the victim if a boy were to purchase things for her would she do things for him and he asked if she would watch a man masturbate. Mr. Thornburg left the victim in the bathroom and returned a few minutes later with what the victim described as a steel cigar case. Mr. Thornburg made the victim place her hands on the sink and pulled her pajama pants down. Mr. Thornburg placed the cigar case under running water and then shoved it into the victim's vagina. The victim described her vagina feeling cold. Mr. Thornburg was standing behind her with his hand on her hip. The lights were off in the bathroom and the victim was not sure if Mr. Thornburg put his penis in her or if it was the cigar case. The victim believes Mr. Thornburg masturbated; however, she could not see him. Later, Mr. Thornburg's wife took the victim home and Mr. Thornburg hugged the victim and told her he loved her.

Another incident occurred when the victim was 14 years old. The victim was helping Mr. Thornburg move into a new home. An unknown woman came to visit Mr. Thornburg and after she left Mr. Thornburg began watching a pornographic movie in the victim's presence. Mr. Thornburg told the victim to come sit next to him and asked her to hold his hand while he masturbated. The victim described the pornographic movie of a man and woman having sex. She further stated she did not watch while she helped Mr. Thornburg masturbate; however, she believed he did ejaculate. Afterword's, Mr. Thornburg put his pants back on and they went to pick up his children.

In 2015, the victim told Mr. Thornburg's sons about what had occurred, and Mr. Thornburg called her and asked her to tell his sons she was lying. Mr. Thornburg began crying and apologized to the victim. The victim also told her mother and an aunt approximately a year after the incident occurred.

The victim's mother stated while the victim was in junior high school the victim informed her Mr. Thornburg made her feel uncomfortable; however, the victim insisted on going to Mr. Thornburg's home so she could spend time with his sons. After Mr. Thornburg's sons moved out the victim told her Mr. Thornburg penetrated her vagina with his penis while she stayed the night at his home. The victim's mother called and informed the victim's father because she did not know what to do.

A warrant was issued, and Mr. Thornburg was located in federal prison serving a sentence on unrelated charges. On April 15, 2020, Mr. Thornburg was extradited from federal prison and transported to the Clark County Detention Center, where he was booked accordingly.

PSI at 6–7.

///

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm Thornburg's Judgment of Conviction. First, Thornburg knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to appeal his judgment of conviction when he plead guilty. Because Thornburg's waiver of the right to appeal his conviction necessarily includes a waiver of his right to appeal from his sentencing, this Court should refuse to entertain Thornburg's claims.

Second, Thornburg has failed to demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an extradition fee under NRS 179.225, because the record shows that the court properly considered Thornburg's financial situation and reasonably determined that the extradition fee would not prevent him from paying child support.

Finally, Thornburg did not object to the \$250 indigent defense fee below, and the issue is therefore waived. However, even if this Court reviews Thornburg's claim, the record indicates that the district court took Thornburg's financial situation into account when assessing the fee as required by NRS 178.3975(2). Further, Thornburg cannot demonstrate that the fee affects his substantial rights because this Court has determined that under NRS 178.3975, only those who actually become capable of paying the fee will be obligated to do so. Accordingly, Thornburg's Judgment of Conviction should be affirmed.

///

ARGUMENT

I. THORNBURG WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO APPEAL

In his guilty plea agreement, Thornburg knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to appeal his conviction, including the right to appeal the extradition fee and indigent defense fee imposed on him at sentencing. 1 AA 21. "A defendant may waive the statutory right to appeal his sentence. However, an express waiver of the right to appeal a sentence is valid only if knowingly and voluntarily made." <u>United States v. Buchanan</u>, 59 F.3d 914, 917 (9th Cir. 1995). In <u>Buchanan</u>, the defendant was allowed to appeal despite his plea agreement because the district court affirmatively told him he could appeal. <u>Id.</u> at 918. In <u>United States v. Michlin</u>, 34 F.3d 896, 898 (9th Cir. 1994), the defendant was denied an appeal, even where his attorney did not inform him of his waiver, because the plea agreement stated he gave up this right.

Thornburg knowingly and voluntarily made an express waiver of his right to appeal. Under the waiver of rights, Thornburg acknowledged he gave up:

The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies

including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

1 AA 21. Thornburg did not specifically reserve any grounds for appeal in writing. Further, NRS 177.015(4) refers to appeals from "a final judgment," and a final judgment in a criminal case is a judgment of conviction that comports with NRS 176.105. See Slaatte v. State, 129 Nev. 219, 221-22, 298 P.3d 1170, 1171 (2013) (concluding that a judgment of conviction was unappealable where it did not meet the requirements of NRS 176.106 because it was not a final judgment). Because NRS 176.105(1)(c) requires that a judgment of conviction include the sentence, Thornburg's waiver of the right to appeal his conviction necessarily includes a waiver of his right to appeal from his sentencing. Accordingly, his judgment of conviction should be affirmed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ASSESSING EXTRADITION COSTS OF \$5,184.00

Even if this Court decides to consider Thornburg's appeal, his claims fail. Thornburg was in federal custody on another case in Atlanta, Georgia, when he was extradited to Nevada. PSI at 7. Thornburg argues that the district court erred when it ordered him to pay extradition costs despite his inability to pay. AOB at 5.

NRS 179.225(2)-(3) states:

2. If a person is returned to this State pursuant to this chapter or chapter 178 of NRS and is convicted of, or pleads guilty, guilty but mentally ill or nolo contendere to, the criminal charge for which the person was returned or a

lesser criminal charge, the court shall conduct an investigation of the financial status of the person to determine the ability to make restitution. In conducting the investigation, the court shall determine if the person is able to pay any existing obligations for:

(a) Child support;

. . .

3. If the court determines that the person is financially able to pay the obligations described in subsection 2, it shall, in addition to any other sentence it may impose, order the person to make restitution for the expenses incurred by the Office of the Attorney General or other governmental entity in returning the person to this State. The court shall not order the person to make restitution if payment of restitution will prevent the person from paying any existing obligations described in subsection 2. Any amount of restitution remaining unpaid constitutes a civil liability arising upon the date of the completion of the sentence.

(emphasis added).

Here, Thornburg cannot demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an extradition fee because the court properly considered Thornburg's financial situation and determined that it would not prevent him from paying child support. At sentencing, Thornburg argued that he should not be required to pay extradition costs because he was in arrears on his child support by ten to fifteen thousand dollars. 1 AA 38. In addition, he argued that he was currently incarcerated and therefore, did not have a job. <u>Id.</u> When the court stated that it appeared that he had not been paying child support anyways, he explained that he had been paying \$100 dollars a month in child support prior to being incarcerated

and that he and his family paid \$5,000 to a private attorney to represent him in the present case, but that the lawyer had "walked out" on him. 1 AA 39–40.

In response, the court stated:

THE COURT: I understand. I mean, here's what I'm going to do, I'm going to impose the extradition charges just because that's -- it's only fair that the State gets paid back that. Now, in reality when you get out of prison, I would rather have you pay the money towards the child support and I think that if you're doing that nobody is going to put you back in prison for not paying the extradition charges, okay? So you do what you can; you pay what you can when you get out.

1 AA 40. After imposing the standard fees as well as the extradition fee, the court again advised Thornburg:

I will impose the \$5,184.00 in extradition charge. But like I said, when you get out you're going to have a big amount of child support in arrears, just pay on that.

1 AA 41.

Thus, the district court properly considered Thornburg's financial situation, and made a reasonable determination that in practice, the extradition fee would not prevent him from paying child support in accordance with NRS 179.225(3). 1 AA 39–40. Thus, the district court was acting within its discretion when it decided to impose the extradition fee.

Moreover, Thornburg agreed to pay the extradition costs in his GPA:

I understand that, if appropriate, I will be ordered to make restitution to the victim of the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty and to the victim of any related offense which is being dismissed or not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement. I will also be ordered to reimburse the State of Nevada for any expenses related to my extradition, if any.

1 AA 18 (emphasis added).

In addition, counsel advised him of the restitution he may be ordered to pay:

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the Defendant named herein and *as* an officer of the court hereby certify that:

. . .

I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the restitution that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.

1 AA 23. Thus, Thornburg has not demonstrated that the district court erred when it imposed the extradition fee and he in fact agreed to pay the fee pursuant to his GPA. Accordingly, the district court's decision should be affirmed.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING AN INDIGENT DEFENSE CIVIL ASSESSMENT OF \$250.00.

First, this claim was not presented to the district court below, and so should not be considered for the first time on appeal. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). Failure to object below generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue; however, the Nevada Supreme Court may conduct plain-error review. LaChance v. State, 130 Nev. 263, 276, 321 P.3d 919, 928 (2014).

"In conducting plain error review, we must examine whether there was error, whether the error was plain or clear, and whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights." <u>Baker v. State</u>, 131 Nev. 1250 (Nev. App. 2015) (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). Under plain error review, the defendant has the burden to demonstrate the error affected his substantial rights by causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95).

Even if reviewed for plain error, Thornburg cannot demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion in ordering the indigent defense fee or that any alleged error affected his substantial rights. NRS 178.3975(1) provides that a 'court may order a defendant to pay all or any part of the expenses incurred by the county, city or state in providing the defendant with an attorney."

NRS 178.3975(2) states:

2. The court shall not order a defendant to make such a payment unless the defendant is or will be able to do so. In determining the amount and method of payment, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment will impose.

(emphasis added).

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 178.3975 has adequate safeguards to ensure that only those who actually become capable of repaying the State will ever be obligated to do so. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1253, 1259, 903 P.2d

805, 809 (1995), overruled on other grounds by Gama v. State, 112 Nev. 833, 920 P.2d 1010 (1996). Further, the fact that an indigent who accepts state-appointed legal representation knows that he might someday be required to repay the costs of these services in no way affects his eligibility to obtain counsel. See id.

Here, the record demonstrates that the district court did take Thornburg's financial situation into account including Thornburg's arguments that he was ten to fifteen thousand dollars in arrears on child support, that he had no job due to his current incarceration, and that he had paid \$5,000 to a private attorney. 1 AA 39–40. Rather than completely waiving the fee, the court reasonably instructed Thornburg to pay what he could when he gets out. 1 AA 40. Thus, the requirements of NRS 178.3975(2) were satisfied. Moreover, Thornburg cannot demonstrate that the fee affects his substantial rights because this Court has determined that under NRS 178.3975, only those who actually become capable of paying the fee will be obligated to do so. Accordingly, Thornburg has neither demonstrated that the court erred, nor that this alleged error affected his substantial rights, and this claim should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, the State respectfully requests that Thornburg's Judgment of Conviction be AFFIRMED.